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The District #1 schoolhouse is located at the center of the
intersection of Spaulding and Lake Roads, about three miles southwest
of the village center. The schoolhouse is a one-story stone structure
on a rubble stone foundation. It is two bays wide and two bays deep,
measuring 25 by 31 feet. The gable end faces west along Lake Road,
giving the impression that this is the front of the building; however,
the entrance is located on the south wall. A boxed cornice joins the
simple pitched roof to the building. Gable returns at each end complete
the connection from wall to roof. The roof, once made of wood shakes,
is now asphalt shingle. The walls of the building are rubble "Black
River" limestone. found in the ledges of nearby fields.

The detalllng of the bulldlng is s1mple yet dlstlnctlve. Large
marble blocks form lintels and sills for unadorned window frames. These
white Dblocks have a tooled, finished surface and contrast nicely with
the coarse, grey stone walls. A diamond-shaped stone sits at the peak
of each gable, noticeable to an observant eye.

The interior of the building, once a large room with adjacent
storage closet, was severely altered when the building was converted to
a chlcken coop in the 1930's. The floor and ceiling were removed to
accomodate a second story constructed in the middle of the space. A
staircase and partition walls were added.

The building is delapidated at present. The roof, suffering
from long absences of repair, has openings that expose roof and rafters
to water and decay. A section of the cornice has fallen from the south
side of the building, exposing more of the structure to the elements.
The wall surface is being displaced by moisture penetration in the -joints.
The one-half story privy on the east side of the bulldlng has all but

disappeared.

This building, worthy of preservation and reuse, deserves
immediate attention and stabilization.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The schoolhouse sits on a triangular-shaped "island" where
Spaulding Road meets Lake Road. Its frontage on all three sides is
approximately 45'. (See map, continuation sheet 1).

' Deed description-Fanton land records:reads: locatzd at the
Junction of the east-west road running past the so called Miiner
Mitchell Place,” with the"lake Rd.™ so c2lledes,. ‘
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The District #1 schoolhouse on the Lake Road in Panton is
important because it is a surviving example of the indigenous stone
architecture in this rural community. Through its simple lines and
distinctive detailing (the molded cornice, the tooled marble lintels,
the triangular stone in each gable), the building embodies the pride and
dignity that newly founded Vermont communities placed in their buildings.
Surrounded by hay fields and orchards, this building stands today as it
did 140 years ago, a part of the historic rural landscape that makes
Panton and the larger Champlain Valley distinctive to Vermont.

The Town of Panton was chartered in November, 1761 to 69 residents
of Litchfield, Connecticut:. Due to its proximity to foraging armies
in the Revolutionary War, its early history remains one of turbulence
and travail.

With the end of the war and the elimination of the Indian threat,
Panton began to flourish as an agricultural community, benefitting from
its location on the fertile banks of Lake Champlain. A simple log
house was constructed in 1786 for use as a school. This building was
replaced by a more substantial frame building five years later.

~ About 1818, with its population still growing, Panton residents
divided the town into four school districts. A large, one-room stone
schoolhouse was constructed in each. Materials for these structures
were taken from the native limestone which protrudes from the fields
on the west side of Dead Creek.

The District #1 school served the large farm families along the
Lake Road. Strong and permanent in construction, the building housed
eight to twenty students, depending on enrollments. A mistress or master
taught grade§Mthrough eight. After eighth grade, students who desired
traveled to Vergennes for high school. Fluxuations in the farm population
throughout the century forced the school to be'mothballed" when enrollment -
dropped.

The District #1 school was used into the first quarter of this
century. Due to a permanent decline in enrollment, the school was closed
permanently and was sold to Harry Irwin in 1932. Irwin made substantial
changes to the interior, using it as a chicken coop. Today, owned by
Diane Irwin of Charlotte, N.C., the building lies vacant, awaiting
a new use.
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The school is one of a small group of stone schoolhouses in Vermont.
They are clustered on the western side of the state, in the Champlain
Valley, and form a unique resource within the state. Other members

of the group include the District Schoolhouse #6 in Shoreham (entered
on the National Register of Historic Places on August 18, 1977) and the

Sudbury Schoolhouse #3 (entered on the National Register on November
2, 1978).
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